
 

222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Agenda 
 
Tuesday, 15 August 2023 at 6.00 pm 
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, East Sussex, TN34 3UY. Please 
enter the building through the Contact Centre entrance via the seafront. 
 
If you are attending the Town Hall for this meeting, please enter the building via the Community 
Contact Centre entrance. 
 
For further information, please contact Democratic Services on 01424 451484 or email: 
democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk 
 
  Page No. 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
 

 
3.   Call In - Land and Property Disposal Programme 1 - 4 
 (Coral Harding - Continuous Improvement and Democratic Services 

Officer) 
 

 

 
 Exclusion of the public  
 To resolve that the public be excluded from the meeting during the 

consideration of the items of business listed below because it is 
likely that, if members of the public were present, there would be 
disclosure to them of ‘exempt’ information as defined in the 
paragraphs of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
referred to in the relevant report. 
  
 

 

 
a)   Land and Property Disposal Programme - 07/08/2023 Cabinet 5 - 16 
 (Jane Hartnell, Chief Executive) 

 
 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 

 
Report To: Overview and Scrutiny 

Date of Meeting: 15th August 2023 

Report Title: Call In- Land and Property Disposal Programme 

Report By: Coral Harding (Continuous Improvement and Democratic Services 
Officer) 

Key Decision: Y 
 

Classification: Public (Part 1) 
 
 

Purpose of Report 
Overview and scrutiny committee have called in the Cabinet decision ‘Land and Property Disposal 
Programme’ from the meeting held on 7th August 2023.  
 
The committee needs to decide the next steps in accordance with the call in process contained 
within the constitution and in line with statutory legislation. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
1. After hearing evidence and reasons regarding the decision called in, the committee will 

need to choose one of the following options; 

A. The matter does not need to be referred back and the original Cabinet decision can 
be implemented; 
 

B. Refer the decision back to Cabinet for reconsideration; 
 

C. Refer the decision to Full Council if they believe the decision is contrary to the 
Budget and/or Policy Framework.  

 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
The statutory requirement for call in is contained in the Local Government Act 2000 in Section 
21. It allows Overview and Scrutiny committee to call in a decision made by Cabinet before it is 
yet to be implemented. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
 
 

Introduction 

1. Overview and Scrutiny have called in the decision ‘Land and Property Disposal Programme’ 
made at Cabinet on 7th August 2023.  

2. The original decision was to seek approval to sell 4 Council owned sites to generate capital 
receipts estimated at more than £3 million. The sites included; 

• Land at rear of 419 to 447 Bexhill Road 

• Mayfield E 

• 12/13 York Buildings 

• Land at Upper Wilting Farm 

3. Call In is a procedure that Overview and Scrutiny can use to delay the implementation of a 
Cabinet key decision. It allows for key decisions to be reconsidered.  

4. Overview and Scrutiny believe that the recommendations of the ‘Land and property Disposal 
Programme’ should be reconsidered. 

5. This meeting seeks to find out if there are reasons and evidence that will either allow the 
original decision to be implemented or the decision either referred back to Cabinet or Full 
Council. 

Call in 

6. The legislation that guides Overview and Scrutiny and Call in is contained in the Local 
Government Act 2000 in section 21 and can be found here.  

7. The legislation states that local authorities with Executive arrangements (Cabinet) must have 
an Overview and Scrutiny committee. Overview and Scrutiny must have the power to review 
and scrutinise any key decisions made by Cabinet. 

8. The constitution contains the Councils procedure for Call In in Part 4 section 29.15 and can 
be found here. 

9. The Call In procedure states that after meeting to discuss the reasons and evidence for the 
decision, Overview and Scrutiny will have 3 options available to them; 

• That they are satisfied, and the original decision can be implemented 

• The decision is referred back to Cabinet for consideration. Overview and Scrutiny will 
have to give their reasons in writing if they choose this option. 

• The decision is referred to Full Council as they believe the decision is contrary to 
Budget and/or Policy Framework. A report would be drafted for Full Council’s 
consideration. 

 

Page 2

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/21
https://hastingsintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s50416/Part4%20Constitution%20Rules%20of%20Procedure%20Final%20April%202023.pdf


 
 
 

Reasons for Call In 

10. Overview and Scrutiny have asked for the decision to be reconsidered for ‘Land and Property 
Disposal Programme for several reasons. 

11. They believe the report doesn’t contain the financial information needed to make this 
decision. They are appreciative that this information will be commercially sensitive and will 
require a discussion that will exclude the public and press. 

12. Given the Councils Asset Management Strategy is currently being created they would like to 
see how these 4 sites were selected. 

13. They would also like to understand how the sale of these sites will affect Corporate Plan 
objectives including delivering 500 affordable homes. 

14. Overview and Scrutiny are in the process of compiling questions that they will circulate to 
Senior Officers and Lead Councillors to help with this meeting. 

Timetable of Next Steps 

15. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these: 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

Overview and 
Scrutiny meeting 
held to discuss call 
in 

Next step will be 
decided by 
committee 

15th August 2023 Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Next step actioned Call in process 
finalised 

16th August 2023 
 

Democratic 
Services 

 
Wards Affected 

Castle, Hollington, West St Leonards. 
 

Policy Implications 

Reading Ease Score: 
 
Have you used relevant project tools?: Y  
 
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness Y 
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  N 
Risk Management     Y 
Environmental Issues & Climate Change   Y 
Economic/Financial Implications   Y 
Human Rights Act     Y 
Organisational Consequences   Y 

Page 3



 
 
 

Local People’s Views    Y 
Anti-Poverty      Y 
Legal                                                                   Y 
 
 
Additional Information 

Original Cabinet report for Land and Property Disposal Programme 
 

Officer to Contact 

Officer: Coral Harding (Continuous Improvement and Democratic Services Officer) 
Email: Charding@hastings.gov.uk  
Tel: 01424 451764 
 

Page 4

mailto:Charding@hastings.gov.uk


 
 
 
 

 Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 
Report To: Cabinet  

Date of Meeting: 7th August 2023 

Report Title: Land and Property Disposal Programme 

Report By: Jane Hartnell, Chief Executive 

Key Decision: Y 
 

Classification: Open 
 
 

Purpose of Report 
To seek approval to the sale of four Council owned sites to generate capital receipts estimated at 
more than £3m which would help to reduce our over capital borrowing requirements and reduce 
potential interest costs. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
1. Add Land at rear of 419 to 447 Bexhill Road, Mayfield E, 12/13 York Buildings and land 

at Upper Wilting Farm, to the Council’s Land and Property Disposal Programme. 
2. Approve the disposal of the sites in accordance with section 123 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 Local Government Act 1972 (legislation.gov.uk). 
3. Delegate authority to the Property & Commercial Assets Manager in consultation with 

the Leader of the Council and Finance Portfolio Holder to take all actions to dispose of 
the sites and agree the terms of the sales. 

 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
1. Ahead of the wider Council strategic asset review we have conducted an initial review of 

the Council’s assets and identified these sites can be brought forward for immediate sale 
for the reasons outlined in the report.   

2. The sales will generate capital receipts currently estimated to be worth in the region of 
£3m.  These capital receipts would then be reinvested into funding the capital programme 
and reduce external borrowing. This would therefore reduce our borrowing costs such as 
MRP (Minimum revenue Provision) as well as costly interest charges which are 
continuing to rise with interest rates.   

3. This would have a beneficial impact on our revenue position and take some of the 
pressure off the Council services and general reserve balance which is continuing to be 
used to fund the revenue budgets for areas such as Homelessness.   

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3a

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/123
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/123
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/123


Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Introduction 

1. The Council’s Land and Property Disposal Programme (the Programme) was adopted at 
Budget Council on 15 February 2023.  The report recognised that the identification and sale 
of surplus or underperforming assets remains crucial to funding the Capital programme and 
minimising revenue costs.   

2. One of the recommendations of the Local Government Association Finance Peer report was 
that we make changes to enable asset disposals to happen as urgently as possible. This 
should include having clear accountability and decision making on disposals.   

3. The Council has commissioned the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) to carry out a full strategic asset review to be completed by December 2023 with 
recommendations to follow. In the interim, in response to the urgency highlighted in the LGA 
report, officers have carried out an initial review and identified four sites to be disposed of as 
shown on the attached plans and described below. 

Land at rear of 419 to 447 Bexhill Road (Bexhill Road south) and Mayfield E 

4. These two sites were declared surplus to requirements some time ago and included in the 
Programme.  Outline planning consents for residential development (Bexhill Road south for 
sixteen units and Mayfield E up to 38 units) were obtained to support their disposal but the 
sites were subsequently removed from the Programme so the option of the Council 
developing them directly could be explored. 

5. A planning application for approval of reserved matters on Bexhill Road south was submitted 
in November 2022.  This will be pursued and is expected to be decided sometime this year. 

6. The current economic climate, the Council’s financial position, the housing crisis and lack of 
capacity have caused us to reconsider our approach to delivering social housing on sites we 
have identified in our ownership that could be developed.  The priority is to bring forward new 
housing units as soon as possible so our new approach, at least until we have additional 
officer capacity, will be to seek social housing partners to acquire and deliver on these sites.  
This should enable the sites to be developed at a quicker pace and generate capital receipts. 

7. The Council’s aspiration is to achieve 100% affordable housing on both sites. 

12/13 York Buildings 

8. This is a grade II listed building with a retail area on the ground floor plus associated 
basement storage and three upper floors converted to 6 x 1-bedroom flats.  The Council has 
been considering options to bring the flats into use for social housing.   

9. After much consideration it has now been concluded that due to the unique nature of the 
property it is unsuitable for social housing delivery.  Therefore, the best option is to progress 
the freehold sale of the whole building including the retail element.  As well as producing a 
capital receipt it will also relieve the Council of responsibility for the costs and management 
of maintaining the building which are significantly more expensive, and complex compared to 
traditional social housing.  

10. The Council has started a conversation with Homes England about the grant funding which 
has been provided for the property.   

Page 6



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Upper Wilting Farm 

11. This lies outside the Hastings Borough boundary in Rother and various parcels, including the 
farm buildings, have previously been sold. 

12. The remaining site is farmland extending in total to approximately 188 acres (76 hectares) 
and comprises a main block with two smaller parcels of grassland/woodland.  Much of the 
southern areas of the main block is SSSI (site of special scientific interest).  The land is let on 
a Farm Business Tenancy which ends on 24 March 2024. 

13. The land has no immediate potential for redevelopment purposes (including 
housing/affordable housing) as it falls within the Strategic Gap designation of the Rother 
Local Plan which is designed to restrict/resist built development of all but very minor 
proposals only allowing development which is in keeping with the designation and part of the 
site is within Combe Valley Countryside Park.  

14. The land currently produces a small amount of revenue giving a modest return and with the 
ending of the Tenancy this gives an opportunity to capitalise on the value by the sale of the 
freehold. 

Risk Management 

15. There are risks associated with disposing of land/property, but it is considered that the 
market conditions are currently suited to bringing forward the identified sites.   

Conclusion 

16. For the reasons outlined above it is recommended that the four sites are brought forward for 
disposal as soon as possible. 

17. In the context of the ongoing review of the Capital Programme and assets held by the 
Council, it is imperative that all options are considered to help reduce the ongoing budget 
deficit.  These additional Capital Receipts would have a significant positive impact on the 
Council’s ability to fund its ongoing Capital programme whilst reducing its revenue burden. 

18. As part of the Council’s commitment to avoiding the issue of a Section 114 notice by the 
Section 151 officer it is recommended that these assets are therefore sold.  

Timetable of Next Steps 

19. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these: 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

Agent/s appointed 
to market 

Marketing 
proposals sought 
from agents 

As soon as 
possible post 
Cabinet 

Property and 
Commercial Assets 
Manager 

Marketing begins Timetable of 
marketing to be 
agreed with the 
appointed agent/s 

To be agreed Property and 
Commercial Assets 
Manager & 
appointed agent/s 

Page 7



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Offer/s accepted & 
legal instructed to 
progress disposal 

Detailed heads of 
terms agreed for 
sale 

To be agreed  Property and 
Commercial Assets 
Manager & 
appointed agent/s 

Sale/s complete & 
capital receipt/s 
received 

Legal 
documentation 
drafted and agreed 
then transfers 
completed 

To be agreed (but 
likely to be 24/25) 

Legal Services 

 
Wards Affected 

Castle; Hollington; West St Leonards; 
 

Policy Implications 

Reading Ease Score: 83% 
 
Have you used relevant project tools? Y/N 
 
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness Y/N 
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  Y/N 
Risk Management     Y/N See report. 
Environmental Issues & Climate Change  Y/N 
Economic/Financial Implications   Y/N See report. 
Human Rights Act     Y/N 
Organisational Consequences   Y/N This will require officer capacity but will also 
reduce deficit. 
Local People’s Views    Y/N 
Anti-Poverty      Y/N 
Legal                                                                   Y/N Advice has been sought from legal services 
regarding the potential freehold disposals and any title considerations. 
 
Additional Information 

Budget Council Report 15 February 2023 - Revenue Budget 2023/24, and Capital 
Programme 2023/24 to 2025/26 
Cabinet report 1 August 2022 – York Buildings 
Cabinet report 7 March 2022 – Affordable Housing Development 
 

Officer to Contact 

Officer  Amy Terry 
Email  aterry@hastings.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



89

3

5

1

6

7

4

2

Bank

Cinema

Hall

11

Homedane House

PCs

Town

19

10

31

5655

20211a

30 29

14

13

57
5a

60

24

59

18 17

47

61

16
46

33

12

28

15

6a

23

27

44El

LB

Telephone

26
c

27a
205 206

207

212

Exchange

York Buildings

The
Queens Apartments

PH

Thrift

(PH)

Posts

1 to 3

1 to 7

7 to
 8

TCB

TCBs

Church

Shelter

Build
ings

House

Qu
ee

n's
 Av

en
ue

El Sub Sta

15 
to 1

6

2

3

9
18

PH

16

4

2

13

El Sub Sta

Posts
8

El Sub Sta

8

57

9
5

18

13

Shelter

7

1

Sh
elte

r

10

4

1

1

2

21

1

PH

1
TCB

6

6

4

3

3

15

67

13

4

2
5

16

Shelter

RO
AD

PL
AC

E

MIDDLE
STREET

Sta
tio

n R
oa

d

Robertson Street

ALBERT ROAD

HAROLD PLACE

QUEEN'S ROAD

DENMARK PLACE

WELLINGTON PLACE

YORK GARDENS

RU
SS

EL
L S

TR
EE

T
PELHAM STREET

12-13 York Buildings
Wellington Place
Hastings

Jan 2013 ST ESAD 1578

±
© Crown Copyright and database right [2013]. Ordnance Survey [100021328]

1:1,250Date: Scale:

Estates Manager:
Amy Terry M.R.I.C.S.
Aquila House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451085      Fax: 01424 451515
email: estates@hastings.gov.uk

Drawn: Drawing No:Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



9

1

7

11

Robsack Centre

24

10

12
16

22
30

15
21

20
19

14

Mayfield Farm

39.0m

Shelter

El Sub Sta

10

7

11

1

15

HEIGHTS

QU
EE

NS
WA

Y

SANDRINGHAM

MAYFIELD LANE

BODIAM DRIVE

Mayfield E
Bodiam Drive
St Leonards-on-sea
 

Feb 2018 ST ESAD 1453

±
© Crown Copyright and database rights [2018]. OS [100021328]

1:1,250Date: Scale:

Estates Manager:
Amy Terry M.R.I.C.S.
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451085
email: estates@hastings.gov.uk

Drawn: Drawing No:

Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are 
granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely
to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for
the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it 
available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, 
distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licenced Data 
to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



7
1

2
6

3

Boulders

Bulverhythe Coastal Link

34

24 17

18

33

36

13

37

40

411

445

449

398 413

422

407

403

392

417

435

410

395

Works

3.4m

3.3m

Gr
oy

ne

409 to 411

Warehouse

Car Park

MP 31.75

El Sub Sta

Mean High Water

Pumping Station

Boulders

1

Warehouse

AMSTERDAM WAY

Car Park and Land at Bexhill Road
St Leonards-on-sea

April 2015 ST ESAD 1676

±
© Crown Copyright and database rights [2015]. Ordnance Survey [100021328]

1:1,250Date: Scale:

Estates Manager:
Amy Terry M.R.I.C.S.
Aquila House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451085      Fax: 01424 451515
email: estates@hastings.gov.uk

Drawn: Drawing No:

Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are 
granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely
to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for
the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it 
available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, 
distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licenced Data 
to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to Ordnance Survey.

Bexhill Road

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



CROWHURST ROAD

RISE

A2690

ROAD

CLOSE

DRIVE

HEIGHTS

LYDD CLOSE

FLIMWELL

HAR
TF

IEL
D

KENSINGTON

QU
EE

NS
WA

Y

COPSE CLOSE

BECKLEY CLOSE

CATSFIELD CLOSE

HI
GH

FIE
LD

 D
RI

VE

WA
TE

RM
ILL

 DR
IVE

SA
LE

HU
RS

T G
AR

DE
NS

MAYFIELD LANE

WH
AT

LIN
GT

ON
 W

AYROSSETTI GARDENS

ICKLESHAM DRIVE

BODIAM DRIVE

COMBE VALLEY WAY

QU
EE

NS
WA

Y

CLOSE

CLOSE

CROWHURST ROAD

BODIAM DRIVE

Gas Distribution Sta

Farm HouseLower Wilting

12

6

74

8

5

9

3

Factory

11

Robsack Centre

26
17

24

23
27

19

30

12

10

14

43

29

18

20

39

16
22

34

48

37

40

15

25

33

35

28

21

32

44
57

31

El

54

42

61

53

Farm

House

Upper

Sta

The White

Lower Wiltings

Mayfield Farm

Innovation Centre

Tanks

Bakery

Surgery

Shelter

Sanctuaire

El Sub Sta

Upper Wilting Farm Cottages

Hollyhocks

Community Centre

1

37

22

31

14

8

14

19

7

Tanks

20

19

15

12

23

2

2

1

7

23

1

10

24

10

23

20

2

14

5

1

20

7

2

6

14

12

15

48

12

5

6

5

4

1

34

25

27

1

18

8

19

14

11

28

14

28

1

10

32

6 11

2

1

1

1

4

30

14

1

7
7

3

10

Shelter 31

29

El Sub Sta

114

28

14

14

15 1

4

21

15

4

25

35

4

11

14

6

6

23
43

11

17

40

1

2

4

9

30
20

7

7

8

26

±
© Crown Copyright and database rights [2019]. OS [100021328]

Upper Wilting Farm

May 2019 ST ESAD 17901:2,500Date: Scale:

Estates Manager:
Amy Terry M.R.I.C.S.
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings, East Sussex TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451085
email: estates@hastings.gov.uk

Drawn: Drawing No:

Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are 
granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely
to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for
the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it 
available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, 
distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licenced Data 
to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Call In - Land and Property Disposal Programme
	Introduction
	Call in
	Reasons for Call In
	Timetable of Next Steps

	3a Land and Property Disposal Programme -  07/08/2023 Cabinet
	Introduction
	Land at rear of 419 to 447 Bexhill Road (Bexhill Road south) and Mayfield E
	12/13 York Buildings
	Upper Wilting Farm
	Risk Management
	Conclusion
	Timetable of Next Steps
	12-13 york buildings 1578, 07/08/2023 Cabinet
	Mayfield E 1453, 07/08/2023 Cabinet
	Car Park and Land Bexhill Road 1676, 07/08/2023 Cabinet
	Upper Wilting Farm 1790, 07/08/2023 Cabinet


